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I. STATEMENT 
1. This proceeding concerns Civil Penalty Assessment Notice (CPAN) No.98343 105392 issued by Public Utilities Commission Staff (Staff) onAugust 8, 2011 November 30, 2012 against Denver Lincoln Limousine Inc. (Respondent).  Hearing Exhibit 2.  The CPAN assessed Respondent a total penalty of $9,460 including a 10 percent surcharge for ten violations of Colorado law and the Public Utilities Commission’s (Commission or PUC) rules.  Id.
2. On April 3, 2013, the Commission referred this matter to an administrative law judge (ALJ) for disposition.   

3. By Decision No. R13-0450-I issued April 17, 2013, the ALJ scheduled a hearing on the CPAN for May 8, 2013 at 2:00 p.m.  

4. At the designated time and place, the undersigned ALJ called the matter for hearing.  Decision No. R13-0450-I.  Staff appeared through counsel.  Respondent failed to appear.  The ALJ recessed the hearing until 2:20 p.m. to allow Respondent additional time to appear.  Despite being given additional time, Respondent did not appear.  The matter proceeded to hearing without Respondent. 

5. During the course of the hearing, Hearing Exhibits 1 through 9 were identified, offered, and admitted into evidence.  Mr. William Schlitter and Mr. Brian Chesher testified in support of the allegations contained in CPAN No. 105392.  

6. In accordance with § 40-6-109, C.R.S., the ALJ now transmits to the Commission the record and exhibits in this proceeding along with a written recommended decision.

II. FINDINGS OF FACT, DISCUSSION, AND CONCLUSIONS

7. Respondent is a luxury limousine carrier operating with Commission Permit No. LL-0139. 
8. Mr. Arnold Poppenberg, III is Respondent’s president and co-owner.  Hearing Exhibits 1, 8, and 9.
9. Mr. Schlitter is a Criminal Investigator for the PUC.  As part of his duties, he conducts safety and compliance reviews of luxury limousines and other regulated transportation carriers to ensure compliance with applicable Commission rules and Colorado law.  He also conducts investigations of alleged wrongdoing between regulated transportation carriers and the public.  

10. As a part of a safety and compliance review, Mr. Schlitter conducts vehicle inspections, which includes reviewing documents the regulated carrier provides.  During the review, Mr. Schlitter determines whether the documents demonstrate compliance with Commission and federal regulations.   

11. Mr. Schlitter conducted a vehicle inspection of Respondent on November 21, 2012.  Hearing Exhibit 1.  Mr. Poppenberg acted as Respondent’s representative during this inspection.  Id.  During the inspection, Mr. Schlitter identified 15 violations of Commission or federal regulations.  Id.  The CPAN in this proceeding was issued as result of the inspection.
  Hearing Exhibits 1 and 2.   

12. The CPAN charges Respondent with: 

· Permitting one of its drivers, Mr. H. Earl Bouchey, Jr., to drive without having been medically examined and certified, violation of Rule 6102(a)(I) of the Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Vehicle, 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-6 and 49 Code of Federal Regulations (C.F.R.) 391.45(a). Hearing Exhibit 2, Count 1; Hearing Exhibit 1, Citation No. 7.

· Failing to maintain and retain accurate and true time records on four drivers, (Daniel R. Reimer, Arnold C. Poppenberg III, Kimberly Black, H. Earl Bouchey, Jr.,), including all supporting documents verifying such time records, violation of Rule 6103(d)(II)(C), 4 CCR 723-6.  Hearing Exhibit 2, Counts 2 to 5; Hearing Exhibit 1, Citation No. 11.

· Failing to have vehicles periodically inspected, violation of Rule 6102(a)(I), 4 CCR 723-6 and 49 C.F.R. 396.17(a).  Hearing Exhibit 2, Counts 6-10; Hearing Exhibit 1, Citation No. 15.  

13. Respondent identified all of the named persons as its drivers at the time of the inspection.  

14. As to Count 1 of the CPAN, Mr. Schlitter determined that Mr. Bouchey drove without being medical certified by reviewing Respondent’s documents for a copy of the driver’s Department of Transportation medical card or medical examination certificate.  No such records existed.  In addition, Mr. Poppenberg specifically told Mr. Schlitter that Mr. Bouchey drove with passengers on November 20, 2012. 

15. Mr. Schlitter charged Respondent with Counts 2 to 5 of the CPAN for failing to maintain adequate and true time records for the four drivers identified above.  Supra ¶ 12.  Specifically, Respondent’s files on all four drivers did not include records indicating time 
on-duty, time off-duty, and total hours worked each day for each driver.  Mr. Schlitter opined that time records are important to verify that drivers are not driving more time than permitted by the Rules, which ensures they can drive safely and without being fatigued. 

16. Mr. Schlitter charged the remaining counts of the CPAN (Counts 6 to 10) after attempting to confirm his vehicles had been inspected as required by federal regulations. Mr. Schlitter searched Respondent’s records to locate the completed “annual inspection form” for five vehicles, but found none.  
17. After completing the inspection, Mr. Schlitter explained each of the violations and how they could be avoided or resolved.  Mr. Schlitter gave Respondent an opportunity to provide documentation that would show that Respondent did not commit the violations.  Respondent did not provide any documentation showing that it did not commit the violations.  Instead, sometime after the inspection, Respondent provided a copy of a medical examination certificate for Mr. Bouchey that was issued approximately eight days after November 21, 2012.   

18. Mr. Schlitter issued the CPAN on November 30, 2012.  Hearing Exhibit 2.  Mr. Schlitter tendered the CPAN to Respondent by certified mail to its registered agent’s address.
 Hearing Exhibits 3, 5, and 8; see § 40-7-116(1), C.R.S. (2012).  The CPAN was claimed.  Hearing Exhibit 6.  Moreover, Mr. Brian Chesher, another Criminal Investigator for the PUC, also personally served the CPAN upon Mr. Poppenberg on March 11, 2013.  Hearing Exhibits 1 and 8.  The ALJ finds that Staff properly served the CPAN on Respondent both by certified mail and personal service as stated above.
 See § 40-7-116(1), C.R.S.

19. Staff presented evidence about Respondent’s history of violating Commission rules.  Specifically, after another inspection in 2008, Staff cited Respondent for: 

· Permitting a driver to drive without furnishing it with a list of traffic violations covering a 12-month period; 

· Failing to require a driver to furnish an employment application; 

· Failing to require a driver to complete an incomplete employment application; 

· Failing to review the driving record of each driver to determine the minimum requirements are met; 

· Permitting a driver to drive without being medically examined and certified; 

· Permitting a driver to drive whose medical examiner’s certificate has expired; 

· Failing to require drivers to prepare a record of duty status; 

· Failing to maintain a means to indicate the nature and due date of inspection and maintenance to be performed on five vehicles; 

· Failing to have vehicle inspection reports with the required content; and 

· Failing to have five vehicles periodically inspected.   

Exhibit 7.  Several of these citations are similar or identical to violations in this matter.  Staff presented no evidence indicating that Respondent was assessed a civil penalty for those violations.   The report citing Respondent for these violations specifically provides direction on how to comply with several of the Commission’s rules which Respondent violated.  Id.  For example, it explains that Respondent should not allow drivers to drive unless they have been physically examined and certified each 24-month time period. Id.  Likewise, it reminds Respondent to ensure all vehicles are periodically inspected and to maintain records of vehicle inspections.  Id.   
20. However, on December 3, 2012, the Commission assessed a civil penalty against Respondent in the amount of $2,117.50 for failing to make vehicles and records available for inspection, violation of Rules 6005(c)(I) and (IV), 4 CCR 723-6.
  Hearing Exhibit 9.  The evidentiary hearing in that matter took place on November 14, 2012.  Id.  Shortly thereafter, Respondent finally made his vehicles and records available for inspection.  The CPAN in this case is the result of that inspection.  Hearing Exhibit 2.  
Commission enforcement personnel have authority to issue CPANs under 
§ 40-7-116, C.R.S.  That statute provides that the Commission has the burden of demonstrating a violation by a preponderance of the evidence.  The preponderance standard requires the finder of fact to determine whether the existence of a contested fact is more probable than its 

21. non-existence.  Swain v. Colorado Department of Revenue, 717 P.2d 507 (Colo. App. 1985).  A party has met this burden of proof when the evidence, on the whole, slightly tips in favor of that party.  

22. The ALJ finds that Staff has met this burden of proof for each count charged.

23. As to Count 1, the evidence proved that Respondent allowed Mr. H. Earl Bouchey, Jr., to drive for Respondent with passengers without having first been medically examined and certified, violation of Rule 6102(a)(I), 4 CCR 723-6 and 49 C.F.R. 391.45(a).

24. Likewise, regarding Counts 2 through 5, Staff proved by a preponderance of the evidence that Respondent failed to maintain and retain accurate and true time records on the following four drivers: Daniel R. Reimer, Arnold C. Poppenberg III, Kimberly Black, H. and Earl Bouchey, Jr., including all supporting documents verifying such time records, violation of Rule 6103(d)(II)(C), 4 CCR 723-6.  
25. Finally, with respect to Counts 6 through 10, the evidence proved that Respondent failed to have five vehicles periodically inspected, violation of Rule 6102(a)(I), 4 CCR 723-6 and 49 C.F.R. 396.17(a).  

26. Having found that Staff proved violations of the cited regulations by a preponderance of the evidence, it is necessary to determine the amount of the civil penalty to be assessed for these violations.  Section 40-7-113, C.R.S., authorizes the Commission to consider aggravating or mitigating circumstances surrounding particular violations in order to fashion a penalty assessment that promotes the underlying purpose of such assessments. 
27. In accordance with Rule 1302(b), of the Rules of Practice and Procedure, 4 CCR 723-1, the Commission may impose a civil penalty after considering evidence concerning the following factors:
(I)
the nature, circumstances, and gravity of the violation;

(II)
the degree of the respondent's culpability;

(III)
the respondent's history of prior offenses;

(IV)
the respondent's ability to pay;

(V)
any good faith efforts by the respondent in attempting to achieve compliance and to prevent future similar violations;

(VI)
the effect on the respondent's ability to continue in business;

(VII)
the size of the respondent’s business; and

(VIII)
such other factors as equity and fairness may require. 

28. The ALJ finds that Respondent should be assessed a civil penalty for the proven violations detailed in Counts 1 through 10.  The maximum civil penalty for these violations is $9,460.00, which includes a 10 percent surcharge.  
29. Respondent has been in business as a luxury limousine carrier for a significant number of years, having applied for a permit in February 2003.  Hearing Exhibit 8.  When Respondent first applied for its permit it certified that it is familiar with the Commission’s governing rules and regulations.  Id.  Apparently, Respondent operated for a number of years without having citations issued against it for violating the rules and regulations.  This demonstrates that Respondent is aware of the rules and regulations, is capable of complying with them, but has chosen not to follow them. 

30. Disturbingly, in 2008, Respondent was cited for a number of violations which were again cited in the CPAN in this case.  In particular, as with the current CPAN, the 2008 compliance safety review report cited Respondent for allowing a driver who was not medically certified to drive, and for failing to have five vehicles periodically inspected.  Hearing Exhibit 7.  More troublesome is that the report included a summary which explained the violations and gave clear directions on how to avoid being cited again.  Id.   Despite having been cited before, and having been given direction on how to avoid future violations, Respondent committed the same violations.  Hearing Exhibits 1 and 7. 

31. Respondent’s disregard for Commission rules and regulations is most evident in the history of the inspection that resulted in the CPAN in this proceeding.  Staff began to make requests to inspect vehicles and records in July 2012.  Hearing Exhibit 9.  Respondent failed to make vehicles and records available for inspection.  Id.  After almost two months, Staff issued a CPAN for this failure.  Id.  The hearing on that CPAN was on November 14, 2012.  After the hearing, Respondent finally relented and allowed Staff to inspect its vehicles and records.  This CPAN arises out of that inspection. Hearing Exhibit 2.  By the time of the inspection, Respondent had more than four months’ notice that the inspection would occur.  Respondent had ample time to ensure it was compliant with the Commission’s rules and regulations prior to the inspection.  Yet, despite having months to prepare, and having just been before the Commission for violating its rules, Respondent’s inspection was abysmal.  

32. Respondent’s only attempt to mitigate the violations served to further confirm a violation.  In particular, Respondent provided a medical certification for his driver (Mr. Bouchey) issued after Mr. Bouchey had driven passengers.  Particularly given that Respondent was cited for the same violation in 2008, Respondent’s failure to comply with the Commission’s rules is inexcusable.  Hearing Exhibit 7.  

33. The Respondent’s contempt for following the proper Commission regulations continued to the day of the hearing and was manifested by the Respondent’s failure to appear at the hearing. 

34. The Commission performs an important health and safety function of guaranteeing that authorized luxury limousine carriers operate in a safe manner to protect customers as well as the traveling public.  Respondent substantially disregarded responsibilities to this Commission and the public. Respondent shall be assessed the maximum civil penalty, $9,460 which includes a 10 percent surcharge.

35. The ALJ finds that the civil penalty assessment described achieves the following purposes:  (a) deterring future violations, whether by other similarly situated carriers and by Respondent; (b) motivating Respondent to come into compliance with the law; and (c) punishing Respondent for its past illegal behavior.  
36. Pursuant to § 40-6-109(2), C.R.S., the ALJ recommends that the Commission enter the following Order.  

III. ORDER
A. The Commission Orders That:

1. Denver Lincoln Limousine Inc. (Respondent) is assessed a civil penalty in the amount of $9,460 in connection with Counts 1 through 10 of the Civil Penalty Assessment Notice.  Respondent shall pay the total assessed penalty of $9,460 within ten days of the effective date of this Decision. 

2. This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.  

3. As provided by § 40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.  

If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the recommended decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of § 40-6-114, C.R.S.

If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in § 40-6-113, C.R.S.  If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts.  This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.

4. If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.
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Doug Dean, 
Director
	THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF COLORADO


MELODY MIRBABA
________________________________
                     Administrative Law Judge




� However, the CPAN does not charge all of the cited violations from the inspection. 


� The ALJ notes that Respondent made a filing with the Secretary of State changing his registered agent on March 14, 2013.  The CPAN was tendered and claimed more than two weeks prior to this change.  Thus, the change has no relevance to service in this proceeding.


� Staff was not required to personally serve the CPAN after it had already properly served the CPAN by tendering it to Respondent via certified mail to its registered agent’s address.  See § 40-7-116(1), C.R.S.,  


� Staff presented no evidence as to whether Respondent paid this civil penalty assessment.
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